72532-7+

72532-7

2015

MAR

No. 72532-7 I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

CHRISTIAN RYSER, Appellant, v.

JOHN E. ERNEST and MARGARET F. ERNEST, husband and wife and their marital community, et. al, Respondents

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Honorable Ken Schubert, J. King County Superior Court No. 12-2-25731-1 SEA

> Jerry Moberg & Associates, P.S. Jerry Moberg, WSBA #5282 124 3rd Avenue S.W. P.O. Box 130 Ephrata, WA 98823 (509) 754-2356

Sustainable Law PLLC Barbara J. Rhoads-Weaver, WSBA #34230 P.O. Box 47, 17500 Vashon Hwy SW Vashon, WA 98070 (206) 259-5878

Attorneys for Appellant

I. INTRODUCTION

There are two narrow issues on appeal: First, where the jury found the plaintiff (Appellant Christian Ryser) had proven his statutory trespass claim and found the plaintiff was damaged by the proven claim, but awarded "Zero" dollars for the proven claim, is the plaintiff entitled to additur or a new trial only on the issue of statutory trespass damages?

Second, under the trespass statute, RCW 4.24.630, is the plaintiff entitled to attorneys' fees on his proven statutory trespass claim?

A driveway is at the center of this dispute and the narrow issues on appeal. The driveway provided the only access to Ryser's former waterfront property and home on Vashon Island. The driveway began up hill on Respondents John and Margaret Ernest's vacation property, then traveled down the slope towards the water in a series of three switchbacks, and ended with a level parking area, partially on Ryser's former property and partially on the Ernests' property, near Quarter Master Harbor.

The last switchback, which is closest to Ryser's former home and the water, was on Ryser's former property. It is uncontested that the Ernests do not own any portion of the land under the driveway's last switchback closest to Ryser's former home.

Ryser and his predecessors in interest had used the driveway for over three decades. In an earlier lawsuit regarding the driveway,¹ the Ernests conceded under oath that Ryser had the right to use those portions of the driveway - including the portion of the level parking area that crossed the Ernests' property - just as Ryser's predecessors in interest had used the driveway for decades. Despite these concessions under oath and their dismissal of their 2005 lawsuit against Ryser, the Ernests interfered in Ryser's attempts to sell his former property by claiming he lacked a legal right to use the driveway.²

In December 2009, after the failed sale of the property, Ryser filed for chapter 13 bankruptcy protection, which was eventually converted to a chapter 7 bankruptcy. The bankruptcy trustee attempted to sell Ryser's former property in order to pay

¹ In 2005, John and Margaret Ernest brought a lawsuit against Ryser to quiet title, for conversion of boulders they placed in the driveway, and for trespass regarding the level parking area, King County Superior Court Cause No. 05-2-17239-8 SEA. The Ernests were deposed in 2006, and voluntarily dismissed their claims against Ryser shortly before trial was scheduled to begin.

² Presumably the jury found Ryser had proven his claim of intentional interference with business expectancy because the amount of economic damages found was the difference between the failed sale price and the debt owed.

creditors, but was unable to do so because of the Ernests' false statements that Ryser and any successor lacked a right to use the driveway. In November 2010, the bankruptcy was discharged and ownership of the property reverted back to Ryser. Also in November 2010, after Respondent Thomas Ernest, who is the son of John and Margaret Ernest, had parked a derelict truck at the bottom of the driveway blocking the parking area, Ryser obtained protection orders against the Ernest respondents restraining them from entering or being within 50 feet of Ryser's former residence. The last switchback is within 50 feet of Ryser's former residence.

Months after the bankruptcy was discharged, a landslide covered the last switchback of the driveway. In April 2011, Thomas Ernest left a rock and broken glass on the doorstep of Ryser's former home. In July 2011, John Ernest hired a contractor to bring in an excavator, clear the landslide debris off of the last switchback, and retrieve the derelict truck that Thomas Ernest had parked at the bottom of the driveway. Later, John Ernest had the contractor move the cleared landslide debris back onto the last switchback and to erect boulder barricades on the driveway.

Ryser's statutory trespass claims against the Ernests are based upon the Ernests actions while the protection orders were in

effect. The primary claim for trespass was summed up by the trial

court:

The point is, is that there was a period of time ... -after the Ernests had done what they did, where the road was passable. They could have left it that way. They chose not to. That's my point. They went back on his land, they trespassed on his land and made the road impassable – unpassable again. They decided to do that. The fact that the road was now unpassable is a damage to Mr. Ryser.

RP at 751. The two issues on appeal stem from Ryser's statutory

trespass claims, which the jury found, by answer to interrogatories

on a special verdict form, Ryser had proven at trial.

II. <u>Assignments of Error</u> A. Assignments of Error

- 1. The trial court erred in denying Ryser's motion for additur or in the alternative a new trial only on the issue of statutory trespass damages by order entered on September 10, 2014. CP at 292.
- The trial court erred in denying Ryser's motion for attorney fees on his proven statutory trespass claim by order entered on September 10, 2014. CP at 292.

B. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Is Ryser entitled to either an additur to the verdict for statutory trespass damages or, in the alternative, a new trial limited only to the issue of damages for Ryser's statutory trespass claim where the jury found Ryser

proved his claim of statutory trespass and proved he was damaged by the proven claim of trespass, and the unrebutted testimony established the value of Ryser's property before the trespass with an open driveway and after the trespass with a blocked driveway? (Assignment of Error 1)

 Is Ryser entitled to recovery of costs, including reasonable attorneys' fees, under RCW 4.24.630(1) where the jury found Ryser proved his statutory trespass claim? (Assignment of Error 2)

III. <u>Statement of the Case</u> C. Procedural Statement of the Case

Ryser sued John and Margaret Ernest, husband and wife, and their son Thomas Ernest on July 31, 2012. CP at 1.³ Ryser filed an Amended Complaint on February 4, 2014. CP at 36. Ryser alleged nuisance, assault, invasion of privacy, defamation, slander of title, interference with business expectancy, malicious harassment, unlawful harassment, negligence, cyberstalking, outrage, trespass, and easement interference. Ryser sought relief for actual damages, punitive damages (RCW 9A.36.083), treble

³ Ryser also asserted claims against the Ernests' trust, Douglas Ernest, Kevin Bergin and wife, Bergin's bond, Larry and Vicky Dravis, and their limited liability company. Prior to the case being handed to the jury, the claims against these defendants were dismissed. CP at 31 (dismissal of Dravis and Indian Point defendants); CP at 34 (dismissal of Bergin defendants); CP at 75 (dismissal of Douglas Ernest estate).

damages (RCW 4.24.630), and costs and attorneys' fees (RCW 4.24.630).

Ryser's claims were tried to a jury beginning March 17, 2014. The claims submitted to the jury were: easement interference, trespass, nuisance, interference with business expectancy, and intentional infliction of emotional distress.⁴ CP at 79. The Court's Instruction No. 5 on trespass is attached as Appendix A. CP at 85.

The jury returned its verdict on March 28, 2014. CP at 77. The Verdict is attached as Appendix B. The jury found: (a) Ryser proved his claim of trespass against John and Margaret Ernest and Thomas Ernest; (b) Ryser proved "any of his remaining claim(s) against Thomas Ernest, and/or John and Margaret Ernest;" and (c) Ryser was damaged by the claims proved. Appendix B; CP at 77. The jury awarded "Zero" for trespass, \$201,581 for economic damages, and "Zero" for non-economic damages. *Id*.

Ryser moved the trial court for additur or new trial only on the issue of damages for his proven trespass claim. CP at 163. Ryser also moved the trial court for an award of costs including

⁴ All other claims had been dismissed prior to trial on summary judgment or after plaintiff rested his case.

reasonable attorneys' fees for his proven trespass claim. CP at 100. The trial court denied Ryser's motions and entered final judgment. CP at 292 and 294.

Ryser appealed the trial court's denial of Ryser's motions for additur or new trial and for attorneys' fees under RCW 4.24.630(1). The Ernest respondents did not cross-appeal any issue.

D. Factual Statement of the Case

In 2003, Appellant Ryser purchased an old home and waterfront property on Vashon Island and began to remodel the home. RP at 319. Quarter Master Harbor borders the property on the east. Since 1978, Respondents John and Margaret Ernest have owned property adjacent to Ryser's former property. RP at 181. Respondent Tom Ernest is their son. See RP at 185. The Ernest property has two parcels that border the west and south of the former Ryser property.

The driveway to reach the home on the former Ryser property began on the Ernest property uphill and to the west of Ryser's former property. The driveway has three switchbacks. Portions of the driveway are on Ernest property and portions are on the former Ryser property. The driveway ended with a flat parking area partially on the former Ryser property and partially on Ernest parcel to the west. For many decades, all of Ryser's predecessors continually used the driveway to access the property and park their vehicles. RP at 165-66.

In a 2005 lawsuit regarding the driveway, John and Margaret Ernest admitted Ryser had a right to use the driveway as his predecessors had used it. RP at 177.

In 2008, Ryser had completed the remodel and put the property up for sale. RP at 287. Respondents John and Tom Ernest contacted Ryser's listing agent and disputed Ryser's right to use the portion of the driveway that crossed the Ernest property. RP at 289-90. Brian Nelson had indicated his willingness to purchase the property from Ryser. However, in 2009, Brian Nelson decided not to purchase the property because of the Ernest Respondents' allegations that Ryser did not have the right to use the driveway to access the waterfront property. RP at 293-94.

After the sale to Nelson failed, Ryser filed for bankruptcy under Chapter 13. RP at 295-97. The bankruptcy was later converted to Chapter 7. See RP at 9. In February 2010, John Ernest sent a letter to the Bankruptcy Court disputing Ryser's and any future owner's right to use those portions of the driveway that cross the Ernest property. RP at 15-6 and 166. The bankruptcy

trustee was unable to sell the property and it was abandoned when the bankruptcy was discharged in November 2010. RP at 24. At the time that the property was returned to Ryser from the bankruptcy court it was valued at \$375,000. This was the owner's valuation of the property and was undisputed. RP at 24 and 412.

Also in November 2010, the dispute between the parties was escalating, and Ryser sought and was granted protection orders against John and Margaret Ernest and Thomas Ernest after Thomas Ernest parked a derelict truck at the bottom of the driveway blocking the parking area and the Ernests admitted to carrying guns around the property. RP at 299-300.

A few months later there was a landslide that blocked the driveway. RP at 439-42.The last switchback closest to Ryser's former home and the water was covered in debris. During July 2011, Ryser was out of town and a friend, Philip Balcom, was checking in on Ryser's former home and getting Ryser's mail. RP at 91. Balcom saw an excavator in Ryser's former front yard digging up the parking area at the end of the driveway. The Ernests had hired an excavation company to clear the debris from the landslide and open up the driveway so that they could retrieve the derelict truck parked at the bottom of the drive. RP at 92. The derelict truck

had been removed. Balcom walked up the driveway and noticed that the landslide blocking the driveway had been cleared and excavator work had been done "down the whole entire driveway." RP at 94-95 and 115.

When Balcom returned to the property the next week, the last switchback that had previously been cleared of debris now was again covered in debris. RP at 102. In addition, boulder barricades had been erected across the top of the driveway on the Ernest property completely cutting off access to the driveway. ⁵ John Ernest admitted that he had instructed the excavator to block the road after retrieving the derelict truck and that he had the excavator erect the barricades at the top of the drive. RP at 858-59 and 865.

RP at 149-50.

⁵ Ryser contacted the authorities when he returned to the island. Deputy Sheriff Hancock came to the property to investigate. Hancock testified:

A. Well, my -- the whole reason I was there really was to investigate a violation of an order. And so by talking to him, confirming that there is an order in existence, viewing the road, how it was blocked. I also in my investigation, I talked to Kevin Bergin, who was a contractor at the time. The pattern in which our conversation went led me to believe that a violation had occurred, if in fact this was a legal easement that [Mr. Ernest], supposedly Kevin said that he owned that property. Was told that he owned that and it was okay to do the work. So my job was to collect all the information and then forward it on. So I am investigating an anti-harassment order. And my determination after viewing the road, seeing the damage to the road, both upper, middle and then at the bottom there was also railroad ties and stuff strewn about. That if – if this indeed was legally an easement for Mr. Ryser, then a violation had occurred.

Following Ernest's instructions, the excavator completely blocked⁶ off Ryser's driveway at the top and the middle making the driveway impassible. RP at 146-48 and 153-54.

Ryser was unable to sell the property because of the lack of access and it was lost in foreclosure at the end of 2011. RP at 320. Ryser filed his complaint in July 2012 after losing the property in December of 2011. CP at 1. While the lawsuit was pending, Daniel Lincoln purchased the property from Freddie Mac for \$126,000. Mr. Lincoln testified that the price he paid was for the property without any driveway access. He admitted that if access could be restored the property would substantially increase in value. RP at 547 and 549.

IV. <u>Argument</u>

The jury found the Ernests liable for statutory trespass. It is undisputed that the Ernests opened up the driveway by clearing out the landslide debris from the last switchback. It was their most neighborly act. It is also beyond controversy that the property's value was greater with an open accessible driveway. It is also

⁶ Hancock testified:

A. ...[I]t was just very apparent to me that this ongoing problem had escalated to the point – I mean the only way to get to this guy's property is down these switchbacks. And it was completely blocked. ...

RP at 146.

undisputed that while a protection order was in place, the Ernests had mud and debris mechanically dumped on the last switchback completely blocking the driveway. The uncontested testimony is that the property's value decreased with a blocked driveway. It was an error for the trial court to deny Ryser's motion for additur or new trial only on the issue of trespass damages. Likewise, it was error for the trial court to deny Ryser's motion for attorneys' fees under RCW 4.24.630(1) where the jury found Ryser proved his trespass claim.

A. Standard of Review for Additur or New Trial

Denial of a motion for additur or a new trial under CR 59 is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Palmer v. Jensen*, 132 Wn.2d 193, 197, 937 P2d 597 (1997). A much lesser showing of abuse of discretion is required to set aside an order denying a new trial than an order granting a new trial because the denial of a new trial "concludes [the parties'] rights." *Palmer*, 132 Wn.2d at 197, (alteration in original) (quoting *Baxter v. Greyhound Corp.*, 65 Wn.2d 421, 437, 397 P.2d 857 (1964)); accord *Worthington v. Caldwell*, 65 Wn.2d 269, 278, 396 P.2d 797 (1964) ("[A] much stronger showing of an abuse of discretion will ordinarily be required to set aside an order granting a new trial than one denying

it."). Additionally, appellate courts review a trial court's denial of a new trial more critically than a grant of a new trial because a new trial places the parties where they were before. *Collins v. Clark County Fire Dist. No. 5*, 155 Wn.App. 48, 81, 231 P.3d 1211 (2010) (citing *State v. Taylor*, 60 Wn.2d 32, 41-42, 371 P.2d 617 (1962)).

It is an abuse of discretion to deny a motion for a new trial where the verdict is contrary to the evidence, even though courts are reluctant to interfere with a jury's damage award because determination of the amount of damages is within the province of the jury. *Palmer*, 132 Wn.2d at 198. To determine whether the verdict is contrary to the evidence, the appellate court reviews the record to determine whether sufficient evidence supports the verdict. *Palmer*, 132 Wn.2d at 197. A verdict is contrary to the evidence if the damage award is outside the range of substantial evidence in the record. *Krivanek v. Fibreboard Corp.*, 72 Wn.App. 632, 636-637, 865 P.2d 527 (1993). To support a verdict, there must be substantial evidence, as distinguished from a mere scintilla of evidence;⁷ that is there must be "evidence of a character which

⁷ Washington courts have discarded the scintilla of evidence rule. The evidence to support a verdict must be substantial. *Evans v. Yakima Valley Transp. Co.*, 39 Wn.2d 841, 843, 239 P.2d 336 (1952).

would convince an unprejudiced, thinking mind of the truth of the fact to which the evidence is directed." *Sommer v. Dept. of Social and Health Services*, 104 Wn.App. 160, 172, 15 P.3d 664 (2001) (internal quotations omitted) (quoting *Hojem v. Kelly*, 93 Wn.2d 143, 145, 606 P.2d 275 (1980)).

In this case, by special verdict form, the jury found that Ryser "proved his claim of trespass against John and Margaret Ernest" and "proved his claim of trespass against Thomas Ernest." Appendix B; CP at 77 (Verdict, Questions 1 and 2). The jury also found that Ryser "was damaged by the claims proved against the [Ernest] Defendants." *Id.* (Verdict, Question 4). Because "Zero" for the Ernests' proven trespass is (a) inadequate, (b) an error for the amount of recovery for injury to property, (c) outside the range of substantial evidence and contrary to the evidence, and because substantial justice has not been done, Ryser moved the trial court for an additur pursuant to RCW 4.76.030, or in the alternative, a new trial pursuant to CR 59(a)(5)-(7) and (a)(9). CP at 163. The trial court abused its discretion in denying the motion.

B. Ryser proved his statutory trespass claim.

Ryser made statutory trespass claims against the Ernest respondents. Ryser claimed the Ernest respondents were liable to

him for damage to his land and property under RCW 4.24.630, which provides in relevant part:

Every person who goes onto the land of another and who ... wrongfully causes waste or injury to the land, or wrongfully injures the personal property or improvements to real estate on the land, is liable to the injured party for treble the amount of damages caused by the removal, waste, or injury. ...

RCW 4.24.630.

The Ernests asked the trial court for a directed verdict dismissing Ryser's statutory trespass claims. RP at 720. The trial court dismissed the trespass claim for damage to the bottom of the driveway parking area,⁸ but ruled there was sufficient evidence of Ryser's statutory trespass claim for damage caused by the Ernest respondents having landslide debris deposited in the middle of the driveway on Ryser's property making his driveway impassable. In rendering its ruling, the trial court reasoned:

... So before the mudslide happened at all we had a value of a property that had a passable road. Nature interfered. The value of the property decreased because of that. The Ernests came in for their own reasons, made the road passable again. Now the property is back where it was in terms of its value prior to the mudslide. Then the Ernests decided, you know what? We're going to come back on the

⁸ "So as to the bottom [of the driveway parking area], that's not cognizable or recognizable trespass." RP at 753-754.

property and make the road impassable. An that's – that caused them damage. So the claim for these purposes survives, because they caused damage to the roadway. They made it impassable after it was passable.

RP at 752. Ryser testified that the value of his property after bankruptcy was discharged and with a passable driveway was \$375,000.⁹ Ryser's testimony as to the value of the property after the bankruptcy was discharged and with access via a passable driveway was uncontroverted; the Ernest respondents did not present any testimony or evidence of a different valuation.

It was also undisputed that the Ernests hired a contractor to clear out the landslide debris and open the driveway, including gratuitously those portions of the driveway on Ryser's property.¹⁰

A. Absolutely.

RP at 661.

¹⁰ John Ernest testified:

⁹ Ryser testified:

A. After it came out of bankruptcy we had it valued at [\$375,000] at that one time and then once those barricades went up and all of that -- we valued it as zero. Yes.

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