FILED
May 11, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

No. 72532-7-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CHRISTIAN W.C. RYSER,

Appellant,

٧.

JOHN E. ERNEST and MARGARET F. ERNEST, husband and wife, and their marital community; et al.,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS
JOHN E. ERNEST and MARGARET F. ERNEST

Emmelyn M. Hart, WSBA #28820
Heather Jensen, WSBA #29635
LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP
2101 4th Ave., Suite 700
Seattle, WA 98121
(206) 436-2020
Attorneys for Respondents
John and Margaret Ernest

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standards of Review

This Court reviews the denial of a motion for new trial or for additur for an abuse of discretion. *Palmer v. Jensen*, 132 Wn.2d 193, 197-98, 937 P.2d 597 (1997). Juries have considerable latitude in assessing damages; consequently, a jury verdict will not be lightly overturned. *Herriman v. May*, 142 Wn. App. 226, 232, 174 P.3d 156 (2007). This Court will not disturb a jury award uniess it is outside the range of substantial evidence, shocks the conscience of the Court, or was the result of passion or prejudice. *RWR Mgmt., Inc. v. Citizens Realty Co.*, 133 Wn. App. 265, 274, 135 P.3d 955 (2006); *Bunch v. King County Dep't of Youth Servs.*, 155 Wn.2d 165, 179, 116 P.3d 381 (2005). *See also, Herriman*, 142 Wn. App. at 232 ("A trial court has no discretion to disturb a verdict within the range of evidence.").

The Court presumes the amount of damages awarded by the jury's verdict was correct. RCW 4.76.030; *Bunch*, 155 Wn.2d at 179. But if the record reflects the damages awarded by a jury verdict were so excessive or so inadequate as unmistakably to indicate that the amount of the verdict must have been the result of passion or prejudice, a new trial or additur may be an appropriate

remedy. RCW 4.76.030; *Robinson v. Safeway Stores*, Inc., 113 Wn.2d 154, 161, 776 P.2d 676 (1989).

To determine whether the trial court has abused its discretion, the Court reviews the trial record. *Palmer*, 132 Wn.2d at 197. If sufficient evidence supports the verdict, the trial court abuses its discretion by ordering a new trial. *Id.* at 198. Evidence is sufficient to support the verdict where it is substantial. *Haft v. N. Pac. Ry. Co.*, 64 Wn.2d 957, 960, 395 P.2d 482 (1964). Substantial evidence is evidence in sufficient quantum to persuade a fair-minded person of the truth of the declared premise. *Ridgeview Props. v. Starbuck*, 96 Wn.2d 716, 719, 638 P.2d 1231 (1982). The Court reviews the evidence and all reasonable inferences that the evidence allows in favor of the Ernests, the non-moving party here. *Haft.* 64 Wn.2d at 960.

The Court applies a two-part standard when reviewing a trial court's decision to grant or deny a request for attorney fees. *Ethridge v. Hwang*, 105 Wn. App. 447, 459-60, 20 P.3d 958 (2001). The Court reviews *de novo* whether there is a legal basis for awarding attorney fees by statute, under contract, or in equity. *Tradewell Group, Inc. v. Mavis*, 71 Wn. App. 120, 126, 857 P.2d 1053 (1993). It then reviews for an abuse of discretion the

discretionary decision to award or to deny attorney fees and the reasonableness of the fees awarded. *Morgan v. Kingen*, 166 Wn.2d 526, 539, 210 P.3d 995 (2009); *Rettkowski v. Dep't of Ecology*, 128 Wn.2d 508, 519, 910 P.2d 462 (1996). The party challenging the award must show that the court used its discretion in an untenable or manifestly unreasonable manner. *Ethridge*, 105 Wn. App. at 460 (citing *Scott Fetzer Co. v. Weeks*, 122 Wn.2d 141, 147, 859 P.2d 1210 (1993)).

B. The Trial Court's Decision to Deny An Additur or A New Trial Was An Appropriate Exercise of Discretion

Disappointed with the jury's verdict and suffering from an apparent case of sour grapes, Ryser contends he is entitled to an increase in the jury's verdict or, alternatively, a new trial. Br. of Appellant at 23. According to Ryser, the trial court abused its discretion by denying his motion for an additur because the jury's award of \$0 for his trespass damages is inadequate and contradicts what he characterizes as "undisputed" evidence of the value of his property with an open and accessible driveway. Br. of Appellant at 24. He also argues the trial court abused its discretion by refusing to grant a new trial because the verdict is contrary to the evidence and prevents him from receiving substantial justice. Br. of Appellant at 27-28. His arguments are unavailing.

First, Ryser fails to articulate how the jury's verdict is so inadequate as to unmistakably be the result of passion or prejudice. The jury's verdict was within the range of credible evidence. Second, there is no evidence the jury committed error when assessing damages or that any error in the law occurred. The jury rendered a verdict after assessing all of the evidence. Finally, Ryser cannot establish that substantial justice has not been had. The trial court's rulings were proper and within its discretion. This Court should affirm.

An additur to the jury's verdict was not warranted

Ryser contends the trial court abused its discretion by refusing to grant an additur because the jury's award on his trespass claim was inadequate and not within the range of evidence presented at trial. Br. of Appellant at 23. He is mistaken. The trial court here did not abuse its discretion by denying his motion. There is no evidence that the jury's refusal to award damages on Ryser's trespass claim was unmistakably the result of passion or prejudice.

Determining the amount of damages is within the jury's province, and courts are reluctant to interfere with a jury's damage

award. *Palmer*, 132 Wn.2d at 197. Nonetheless, RCW 4.76.030⁴ allows an additur where the award is so excessive or inadequate as to *unmistakably* indicate that the amount must have been the result of passion or prejudice. *Green v. McAllister*, 103 Wn. App 452, 462, 14 P.3d 795 (2000). Before passion or prejudice can justify modification of a jury verdict, however, it must be of such manifest clarity as to make it unmistakable. *Delahunty v. Cahoon*, 66 Wn.App. 829, 832 P.2d 1378 (1992); *James v. Robeck*, 79 Wn.2d 864, 870, 490 P.2d 878 (1971). A jury's verdict does not carry its own death warrant solely by reason of its size. *Kramer v. Portland-Seattle Auto Freight, Inc.*, 43 Wn.2d 386, 394, 261 P.2d 692 (1953).

The trial court here did not abuse its discretion by denying Ryser's motion for an additur to the jury's verdict. This is not a case wherein the judgment of the jury has been so distorted by passion generated at trial that the trial court had the duty to substitute reason for retribution. Other than the amount of the verdict, the record in this case discloses nothing to suggest that the jury was

⁴ RCW 4.76.030 more fully provides:

If the trial court shall, upon a motion for new trial, find the damages awarded by a jury to be so excessive or inadequate as unmistakably to indicate that the amount thereof must have been the result of passion or prejudice, the trial court may order a new trial or may enter an order providing for a new trial unless the party adversely affected shall consent to a reduction or increase of such verdict[.]

prejudiced against Ryser or that it was incited by passion to regard his case unfairly. *Bingaman v. Grays Harbor Cmty. Hosp.*, 103 Wn.2d 831, 836, 699 P.2d 1230 (1985). Rather, the jury could have properly questioned Ryser's credibility due to the inconsistencies in his testimony relating to the value of his home and also to his damages. Ryser's failure to demonstrate that the jury's verdict was the unmistakable result of passion or prejudice is fatal to his request for relief. Accordingly, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for an additur.

A new trial was unnecessary

Ryser next argues the trial court abused its discretion by denying his alternative request for a new trial under CR 59(a).⁵ Br. of Appellant at 25-29. No such abuse occurred here.

⁵ CR 59(a) states, in pertinent part and as relevant here, that a verdict may be vacated and a new trial granted for any one of the following causes materially affecting the substantial rights of the parties:

⁽⁵⁾ Damages so excessive or inadequate as unmistakably to indicate that the verdict must have been the result of passion or prejudice;

⁽⁶⁾ Error in the assessment of the amount of recovery whether too large or too small, when the action is upon a contract, or for the injury or detention of property;

⁽⁷⁾ That there is no evidence or reasonable inference from the evidence to justify the verdict or the decision, or that it is contrary to law;

CR 59(a) provides an aggrieved party with limited grounds to request a new trial, including among other reasons an award of inadequate damages resulting from the jury's passion or prejudice, an error in the assessment of the amount of recovery, the absence of evidence to justify the decision, or the lack of substantial justice. CR 59(a)(5-7, 9). The trial court properly refused to grant Ryser a new trial because he did not present grounds to grant the motion under any cause listed in the rule.

(a) The jury did not award inadequate damages based on passion or prejudice or improperly assess recovery

Ryser first argues he is entitled to a new trial under CR 59(a)(5) and (6) because the jury's award of damages was so inadequate as to be the result of passion or prejudice and because the jury erred in assessing the amount of his recovery. Br. of Appellant at 27. But he neglects to mention that he never adequately argued to the trial court that he was entitled to relief under those particular subsections of CR 59(a) and offers no explanation for his failure to do so. It was, therefore, not an abuse of discretion for the trial court to have denied Ryser relief on those

Br. of Resp'ts Ernest - 13 4851-3732-7906.1

⁽⁹⁾ That substantial justice has not been done.

bases. See generally, King County v. Washington State Boundary Review Bd. for King County, 122 Wn.2d 648, 660, 860 P.2d 1024 (1993) (holding that only when parties brief and argue an issue in the lower court, and the lower court rules on an issue, is the issue properly raised on appeal).

Further, Ryser's failure to adequately argue below that CR 59(a)(5) and (6) provide grounds for a new trial precludes this Court's review of the issue. *Amalgamated Transit Union Locai 587 v. State*, 142 Wn.2d 183, 203, 11 P.3d 762 (2000) (declining to consider inadequately argued issues. Where Ryser did not raise the arguments below, this Court should decline to consider them for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a). *See also, Brundridge v. Fluor Fed. Servs., Inc.*, 164 Wn.2d 432, 441, 191 P.3d 879 (2008) (noting the appellate courts will not entertain issues raised for the first time on appeal); *Boeing Co. v. State*, 89 Wn.2d 443, 451, 572 P.2d 8 (1978) (declining to consider an argument raised for the first time on appeal).

(b) The jury's decision is not contrary to the evidence

Ryser next argues he is entitled to a new trial under CR 59(a)(7) because there is insufficient evidence to support the jury's award of \$0 trespass damages. Br. of Appellant at 27-28. He

is mistaken. The record contains more than sufficient evidence to support the verdict.

For example, the evidence adduced at trial established that the landslide in December 2010 blocked the switchback road on the curve that included properties owned by Ryser and Larry Dravis. RP I:13, 61. For the next eight months, the landslide remained intact and made Ryser's property inaccessible and essentially worth nothing. During those months, Ryser did not live at the property, did not list the property for sale, and did not make any effort to clear the slide thereby re-opening access to it.

In late July and early August of 2010, the Ernests hired Kevin Bergin to retrieve their son Tom's dilapidated truck from Parcel B. CP 493, 497; RP I:74-75. Bergin and his crew had to push the slide debris aside and onto Dravis's property to gain access to the truck. RP 69. When Dravis complained about the debris a few hours later, Bergin returned the debris to its original position on the curve. RP I:71, 75-76. Both Bergin and John Ernest testified the switchback road was only re-opened for a few hours before the slide debris was replaced. RP I:75, 861, 863.

During closing arguments, Ryser's counsel asked the jury to award Ryser trespass damages of \$375,000 based on the

testimony of real estate agent Crist Granum. RP II:988-969, 107. Granum had opined on the value of Ryser's property with open and unrestricted access. CP 259. The Ernests challenged Ryser's argument, suggesting it would be absurd to award Ryser such significant damages for the approximately three to four hour window the property was accessible when Ryser chose not to re-open the road after the slide, had not lived in the house for months, and had not re-listed the property for sale. CP 257.

Viewing this evidence in the light most favorable to the defense, which the Court is required to do, it is clear that the jury was persuaded that Bergin's replacement of the landslide debris to its original location approximately four hours after he had moved it caused Ryser no actual damages. In light of the sufficient evidence that supports the jury's verdict, it was not an abuse of discretion for the trial court to decline to order a new trial.

(c) Substantial justice was done

Ryser's last contention is that the trial court abused its discretion by failing to grant a new trial where there was an absence of substantial justice. Br. of Appellant at 28-29. But he fails to address how or why justice has not been served.

CR 59(a)(9) provides that an order may be vacated and a new trial granted where substantial justice has not been done. Generally, a new trial based on a lack of substantial justice is rare, due to the other broad grounds afforded under CR 59(a). *Knecht v. Marzano*, 65 Wn.2d 290, 297, 396 P.2d 782 (1964); *Sligar v. Odell,* 156 Wn. App. 720, 734, 233 P.3d 914 (2010). The authority of the trial court, and, in turn, this Court to grant a new trial on the ground that substantial justice has not been done is severely limited. *Cerjance v. Kehres*, 26 Wn. App. 436, 440, 613 P.2d 192 (1980). The Court is not allowed simply to substitute its judgment for that of the jury. *State v. Hall,* 74 Wn.2d 726, 727, 446 P.2d 323 (1968); *Pac. Nat'l Bank of Wash. v. Morrissey,* 17 Wn. App. 525, 529, 564 P.2d 337 (1977).

Ryser's argument that substantial justice has not been done is the same argument that he advances to show the verdict is contrary to the evidence. The Court should reject his final argument for the same reasons its rejects his earlier arguments.

More pointedly, Ryser's disappointment with the jury's verdict does not mean that substantial justice was ultimately not had. The fundamental flaw in Ryser's argument is his failure to recognize that the weight of evidence and questions of credibility

are the province of fact finder. Hilltop Terrace Homeowner's Ass'n v. Island County, 126 Wn.2d 22, 34, 891 P.2d 29 (1995). The jury plainly found the Ernests' version of events and supporting evidence with respect to the landslide and the damages Ryser allegedly sustained to be persuasive and rejected Ryser's contradicting evidence. This is not a case for application of the substantial justice standard. A new trial was not warranted.

C. <u>The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion by</u> <u>Denying Ryser's Motion for Attorney Fees and Costs</u>

Ryser claims the trial court erred by denying his motion for attorney fees and costs under RCW 4.24.630(1), which authorizes an award of fees and costs where a defendant is found liable for damage wrongfully caused by waste or injury to land.⁶ Br. of Appellant at 30-36. But Ryser is not the prevailing party with respect to this claim. When the jury determined that Ryser was not entitled to monetary damages, including nominal damages, for the

⁶ RCW 4.24.630(1) provides, in pertinent part:

Every person who goes onto the land of another and who ... wrongfully causes waste or injury to the land, ..., is liable to the injured party for treble the amount of the damages caused by the removal, waste, or injury Damages recoverable under this section include, but are not limited to, damages for the market value of the property removed or injured, and for injury to the land, including the costs of restoration. In addition, the person is liable for reimbursing the injured party for the party's reasonable costs, including but not limited to investigative costs and reasonable attorneys' fees and other litigation-related costs.

Ernests' trespass, it granted a defense verdict. Ryser provides no authority that would entitle him to fees and costs under RCW 4.23.060 in this circumstance. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying the motion.

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